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    NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING


Thursday, February 21, 2013

--- On commencing at 1:41 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

The purpose of the proceeding today is to hear argument in-chief by Toronto Hydro.  Mr. Cass, are you ready?

MR. CASS:  Yes, I am Madam Chair, thank you.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt.

There was just one very brief matter I forgot to mention.  It is just relates to a correction to the transcript that we have been given from the OPA, and it is a very simple matter where one of the witnesses misspoke, but would like the transcript corrected.

I don't for a second think it is controversial, but the record as it currently reads is inaccurate.  So I will read it out, with the Panel's permission.

It relates to a statement by Mr. Toneguzzo, and in volume 6 from Tuesday, February 19th, the transcript on page 38, lines 6 and 7, he misspoke.  What he said was:

"Our current schedule is that we will have options by around mid-2014."

What he had meant to say was that the options would be available around mid-2013.

That is the sole correction.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  Any other preliminary matters?  I did see some undertaking responses filed today.

MS. KLEIN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  We filed the bulk of the undertaking responses yesterday.  There are a few that are being filed, I understand, right now.  So imminently they should be into the Board.

There is one final one, which is the draft 25-year load forecast that Toronto Hydro shared with the OPA that we also expect to have filed shortly.  It is just being reviewed right now just for any commercial sensitivity or customer confidential information.

MS. HARE:  Okay, very good.  Thank you.  Mr. Cass, then.
Closing Argument by Mr Cass:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My apologies to the Board Panel and to everyone else in the room for being a few minutes late.

As I was working on the argument in-chief, it struck me that it would definitely benefit from a collection of the evidentiary references that I will be using.

There was not time available to me to put together anything very grand, but I did my best to put together a rather crude set of the evidentiary references that I will refer to as I go through my submissions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Should we give that an exhibit number?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Exhibit 8.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  THESL COMPENDIUM OF EVIDENTIARY REFERENCES FOR SUBMISSIONS IN-CHIEF.

MR. CASS:  There are a number of excerpts from the evidence here, essentially because I think it is very helpful to the Board's consideration of the case.  Some of them are perhaps somewhat lengthy.  I have underlined the parts that I intend to refer to, and I may do my best to skip even some of the underlining just in the sake of -- for the sake of brevity, because some of them are a little lengthy, but still I think helpful to the Board's deliberations.

So if the Board were to look at Exhibit 8.1, the Board would see that I propose to start at the end, so to speak, in my submissions.  The document that I have included at page 1 of Exhibit 8.1 is actually the conclusions from Toronto Hydro's prefiled evidence about the Bremner project.

As we all know, the Bremner project is part of the overall ICM application that Toronto Hydro has filed with the Board.  I don't think I need to dwell on the criteria for an ICM application.  That was addressed extensively, I think, in the submissions in the earlier part of this phase of the proceeding.

Suffice it to say that the core criteria are materiality, need and prudence.  And I intend to start my submissions by going through some of the references that I think are particularly relevant to the issues of need and prudence.

So starting at page 1 of Exhibit 8.1, Madam Chair, as you will see from the underlined portions of that excerpt from the evidence, I've indicated some of the underlying propositions that support Toronto Hydro's ICM application in respect of the Bremner station.

The first point -- I won't read them, but the first point of course is just noting the Board's previous decision that had alluded to the Bremner station as one that might be the sort of project that would be eligible for ICM funding.

The next paragraph I will elaborate on more as I go through my submissions.  This paragraph is talking about the need that drives the Bremner project.  It indicates the immediate need due to the requirement to upgrade equipment at the Windsor transformer station.

It also refers to a short-term need described as increasing loads at five key stations downtown, and a midterm need, described as future load growth.

I will elaborate on that as I go through my submissions, Madam Chair, because I do feel that during the cross-examination there was some conflating of the issue with respect to loads at the stations with the issue of load growth.

Of course they are not unrelated, but I think there was not a complete understanding of where they actually are different.

So without going through all of the points here, there is a reference here to the request under section 84, paragraph (a) of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  I will touch on that briefly later in my submissions.

So having alluded here to the need for the Bremner project, I did try to capture from the oral testimony a summary of the key drivers, and I included that at tab -- sorry, at page 2 of Exhibit 8.1.  You will see I took the liberty of just adding numbers of my own there, just to bring out the four different points that are, in my submission, important to be understood in relation to the need for the project.

This is from the evidence.  I think it was Mr. Simpson, and the transcript reference is at the top.  The first point, then, is the need for more feeder connection capacity for new buildings that are currently being constructed in the vicinity of the Windsor station.

There is no more available bus capacity at Windsor station for new load connections, and Toronto Hydro cannot accommodate growth that way.

The second reason, as the Board has heard about, is that Bremner will provide relief for Toronto Hydro to allow outages at Windsor to refurbish the obsolete switchgear at Windsor.

The third reason is that, from a supply security perspective, Bremner will provide an alternative point of supply in the event of an interruption of service at Windsor, and this provides an enhanced level of reliability to customers in the area.

Then the fourth reason is that Bremner, if approved and constructed, would provide an additional option for transferring loads east-west across Toronto, as the Ontario Power Authority discussed in its evidence.  That also goes to enhancing reliability.

Now, in my submission, what does come out from this summary, and what I will go on to discuss further, is there actually are two issues in relation to the Windsor station.  We of course heard the issue about the need to refurbish the obsolete switchgear, but there is also the issue about there being no more feeder positions to connect new customers.

I think it is just important to bear in mind that there are those two aspects of the evidence relating to the Windsor station.  In order to elaborate on that further, I've included some of the excerpts from the evidence that bring out those two points.

The next item I have included is an excerpt from the Navigant report that discusses the Windsor station under a heading called, "Windsor Station Assessment".  That is at page 3.

This is the background evidence.  The Board did hear about some of this in the oral testimony to the effect that the Windsor station was originally constructed in 1950 and it contains some of Toronto Hydro's oldest equipment, some of which is obsolete, and yet which serves what is arguably the most critical and sensitive load in the GTA.

This evidence also goes on to make the point about there being no open feeder positions, so I have underlined several spots where that point is made indicating that there are no -- there are few or no spare feeder positions on page 4, and then, again, there are a number of references to the same effect on page 5 of Exhibit 8.1.

Again, just to make the point that it is not just the replacement of the obsolete equipment, it is also the need to have feeder positions to connect new customers.

This was put in the context of some urgency by Mr. Odell, in his evidence.  I have included that at page 6 of the document.  Again, he has confirmed in his oral testimony the evidence about the Windsor station.  And in the portion that I have underlined, just looking opposite lines -- line 8:

"This replacement requires backup feeder ties from an adjacent station, and this does not exist today."

So that is in relation to the need to deal with the obsolete equipment.

And then on the next page, he discusses the other issue, which is the need for connections.  So starting at line 13 on the next page of the oral testimony that I have included in this document, Mr. Odell talks about the level of growth in the city and how it is unprecedented.  And then he says:

"Connection requests of Toronto Hydro have increased 58 percent since 2009.  These connection requests result in increases in peak demand at existing stations and significantly a need for more discrete feeder positions.  Our customers are already faced with significant connection costs due to the lack of available breaker positions at Windsor, and longer feeder connections associated with obtaining those breaker positions from adjacent stations served to increase those connection costs."

Now, I believe that was testimony of Mr. Simpson -- sorry, Mr. Odell, that was testimony of Mr. Odell.

Mr. Simpson was more specific about how this is an issue that is occurring now, that it is actually occurring in 2012.  And I have included the oral testimony about that at page 9 of the document.

So Mr. Simpson talked, also, about the importance of the Windsor station, and then at line 12 he gave more specific evidence about how these customer connections are having to be made at a different station because of the lack of ability to connect at Windsor.

So at line 12, Mr. Simpson indicated:
 "Increasingly, Toronto Hydro has served new customer requests in the Windsor area from stations further afield and that has involved incremental costs for those customers.  In the year 2012 alone, approximately 37 megawatts of new feeder connections were received for Windsor and 29 megawatts of these had to be diverted to Terauley, at an incremental cost of approximately $3.3 million."

So in my submission, Madam Chair, essentially what is happening - quite apart from the issue of having to replace the obsolete equipment at Windsor - is there is a sub-optimal approach to connection of customers because of the urgent need for new feeder connection positions.

And just on that point about this not being the optimal way to proceed, that was covered during cross-examination when Mr. Brett was cross-examining the panel.  There was evidence to the effect that this is not the optimal way to connect new customers.  I have included that in the transcript excerpt starting at page 10 of the document.

Again, it is somewhat extensive.  I've underlined, I think, the relevant portions.  I won't read them all, but Mr. Brett did start out by asking Mr. Simpson some questions about these connections that were unable to be made at Windsor.

And on page 11 of Exhibit 8.1, you will see that Mr. Simpson referred to the fact there is two factors.  One is Toronto Hydro needs the physical positions to connect to feeders, and then Mr. Simpson goes on to say:

"And any substantial load, we have insufficient headroom at any of the buses at Windsor to do that now."

And then he goes on to say:

"So both the size of the load and the number of the new loads is driving a need for Bremner."

So that is the distinction that I was hoping to bring home to the Board.  It's not just the size of the load, it is the number of the new loads driving needs for connections that can't be accommodated at Windsor.

Then over on the next page, there is more discussion about this not being an optimal situation.

Mr. Brett, around line 12 of page 12 of this document, asks whether these feeder connections can be placed at any of the other existing stations.

Mr. Simpson's response at line 17 is:
 "We're rapidly running out of room at the five area stations.  It is also a non-optimal solution to run farther with the feeder lengths to those adjacent stations.  So, A, we're running out of headroom, and, B, it is a non-optimal feeder connection."

And then there was some questions from Mr. Brett about why it's not optimal.  He says, Mr. Brett says:
"Non-optimal because losses are larger?"

And Mr. Simpson indicates:

"You're starting to get into a long run to get to Terauley and to the other stations."

He refers to this.

And compounding this, as we mentioned in the phase one, there is a great deal of congestion in the downtown area and it is very challenging getting in and out of those stations.

I realize that was a somewhat lengthy explanation, Madam Chair, but I did just want to bring out that the issues with the Windsor station are not confined just to the replacement of the obsolete equipment.  That, of course, is a very important issue on its own, but there is also an urgent issue in relation to the need to have more positions to connect new customers.

Just to close this off, I did include an excerpt from the prefiled evidence at page 14 of the document, just because I felt it was a particularly good explanation of the circumstances at Windsor that make it such an important issue to be addressed.

It is under the heading of "Consequences of Deferral", and you will see there the indication in the prefiled evidence that Toronto Hydro considers the asset condition at Windsor to be an unacceptable risk.  And skipping down:

"This stopgap approach is unsustainable and the reliability of the obsolete equipment will continue to decline, leading to increased risk of failure.  Equipment failure at Windsor is considered one of Toronto Hydro's highest-risk events, due to both the state of the equipment and the critical load it supplies.  There is no alternate supply to customers should a switchgear fail.  And restoration time would be measured in days, possibly weeks, depending on the failure scenario."

Again, I just thought that item of evidence was important, just to emphasize the critical nature of the issues at Windsor.

Madam Chair, having discussed those evidentiary references with respect to the need for and the prudence of the proposed Bremner station, I wanted to touch just briefly on the Toronto Hydro evidence that the Board heard during the oral hearing.

In my submission, the witnesses were faced with what I might call a challenging scope of questions.  They were in the position of needing to respond to questions that ranged from technical, almost electrical engineering-type of issues, right through to CDM, load forecasts, a wide range of issues.

In my submission, Madam Chair, the witnesses, virtually without exception, gave very thoughtful and very careful answers to all of the questions.  In my submission, they were anything but overstated.  They were very careful in all of the answers that they gave.  And in my submission, it was very credible evidence, and, in addition to the points that I made about the need and prudence of the project, I submit that the Board can take confidence from the credible nature of the evidence that the Board heard from these witnesses during the oral hearing.

Madam Chair, another element of the evidence that I think can give the Board some additional confidence is the fact that there is actually support, at least in certain aspects, for the Bremner project from the evidence of other parties.

I am referring specifically to the Ontario Power Authority and to the evidence of Mr. Bach.

With respect to the evidence of the Ontario Power Authority, as the Board is aware from the evidence, the OPA called this project a strategic distribution investment.  And the Board will probably recall from the OPA's prefiled evidence, which I have included at page 16 of Exhibit 8.1, that there was a somewhat extensive discussion of functions and benefits of the Bremner project if approved by the Board.

The first part of it talks about the functions from a distribution point of view.  This again is at page 16 of the document that I assembled.  I think the OPA has actually done an excellent job of summarizing the benefits, from a distribution point of view, in the three bullets in the middle of that page.  In particular, the OPA is certainly alert to the need for more feeder connections due to the new buildings that are currently being constructed in the vicinity of the Windsor station.  That is in the first bullet point.

But quite aside from those distribution functions, the OPA, as the Board is aware, went on to talk about additional regional benefits of the project, and that is in the paragraph following the three bullet points on page 16 of this document.

I won't read that passage, because in fact it was explained more in the oral testimony of the Ontario Power Authority, and so I will take the Board to the oral testimony rather than reading out what was in that prefiled evidence.

The extracts from the oral testimony that I wanted to take the Board to start at page 17 of the brief, and I have collected them really in two ways:  First, those that relate to the reasons why the OPA calls this a strategic distribution investment; and then also the regional benefits that the OPA referred to.

So in my examination of the Ontario Power Authority, I had asked a question about what a strategic distribution investment is, and that's at page 17 of the document.  And the response was that a strategic distribution investment is one that fulfils many needs, and then the witness actually went on to talk about the Bremner station specifically and the needs that it fulfils, including those in relation to Windsor.

At line 21, the witness indicated the way the station is incorporated into the high voltage transmission system, the OPA's preliminary findings are that it can bring near term reliability benefits to the regional area, and then over the longer term, depending on the kind of load forecast, it could add -- it could also substantially defer the need for a larger investment into the future.

So that was the OPA's evidence about why it described the project as a strategic distribution investment.  Then the OPA did also elaborate on the regional benefits, and that starts at page 19, over to page 20 of Exhibit 8.1.  There was a question asked about the functions and benefits of the station, and Mr. Toneguzzo replied:
"Well, I think I've already mentioned the importance.  What the station does is introduce a new supply point at a strategic location."

And if I might, Madam Chair, just stop there to emphasize that word "location", because I will be coming back to talk about the location of this proposed station and why it is important and, in fact, an ideal location.

So, again, without reading the entirety of the evidence, the Board will recall that the OPA witness indicated, starting at line 15, talked about how the Bremner station would provide a new supply point which would allow what the witness called a "finer amount of load switching back and forth between the Leaside and Manby stations".

And the witness indicated:
"This would add value in the near term when we're applying the various tests or contingencies when we stress-test the system."

In fact the witness went on to say:
"Having that operational flexibility brings value almost immediately from a reliability perspective."

So my point simply being, in addition to the extensive evidence from Toronto Hydro about the need and prudence of this proposed investment, there is very good support for that to be found in the evidence of the OPA.

I also wanted to refer to Mr. Bach's evidence in this context, at least in relation to one aspect of what is driving the Bremner project.

For that purpose, I have included an extract from his evidence at page 21 of the document.  And as underlined at the bottom of page 21, Mr. Bach said:
"We are having, in Toronto, an unprecedented rate of new buildings under construction, and I would refer to the evidence from Mr. Simpson, who compared our number of buildings under construction with New York City, and we are twice as much as they are.  And I can give you lots of other examples of how incredible this growth is.  And that is what is driving the new additions."


So, in my submission, Madam Chair, not only do you have the evidence of Toronto Hydro in support of the Bremner project, you have very helpful evidence from other parties in the extracts that I have just taken you to.

Now, having referred to the evidence of Mr. Bach, I am at the point where I will address Environmental Defence's evidence in this proceeding.

I want to start by emphasizing as strongly as I can, as I indeed tried to do during cross-examination, that anything that I say is most certainly not a criticism of Mr. Bach.  On the contrary, I would say that it is clear from the record in this proceeding that Mr. Bach was put in quite a difficult position and through no fault of his own.

Now, just for the purpose of making clear what I'm talking about when I say that, I have included the next two excerpts from the evidence in Exhibit 8.1.  It gives me no pleasure to say this, Madam Chair, but I feel that it really must be said, because I think it is clear from the evidence.

It seems very clear that what happened was Mr. Bach was given an extremely limited mandate, and then his client pretended that the evidence was far more than it was.  And for that purpose, if I could take you to the next two excerpts in Exhibit 8.1.

We did have some discussion about the terms of reference for Mr. Bach.  For this purpose, I have just used what was in his own evidence and I have reproduced that at page 22, and I invite the Board to compare the very limited terms of reference that Mr. Bach was given to how his client described his evidence.

So what he was asked to do, according to the indication on page 22:
"Environmental Defence thus requested the author to provide evidence on whether the incremental CDM potential in downtown Toronto significantly exceeds 18 megawatts."

That was it.  That was the mandate he was given.

And I invite the Board to compare that to the excerpt from Exhibit K7.4, which is at page 23 of the document:
"Environmental Defence will provide expert evidence that energy efficiency and local energy generation are a cheaper option for consumers and the best environmental choice."

Madam Chair, there is just no comparison.  It is like night and day.

Now, again, my reason for bringing this out is to emphasize that I am not seeking to be critical of Mr. Bach.  His evidence was a function of the mandate that he was given.  But in my submission, Madam Chair, the evidence really is of no value to the Board.

It's of no value, first of all, because the mandate was so narrow that it is hard to conceive that anything could have come out of that that would be directly relevant for the Board to decide whether to approve the Bremner project or not.

He was asked to consider whether the CDM potential in downtown Toronto significantly exceeds 18 megawatts.  He was not asked to consider cost or timing, or how it might be an alternative to the Bremner project.

The mandate to begin with was so narrow that the evidence, in my submission, doesn't have value to the Board.  That on its own, in my submission, would be enough, but to make it worse, the mandate was wrong.  And for that purpose I have included the document that you will find at page 24 of the Exhibit 8.1.

So the mandate had all to do with this 18 megawatt figure that Mr. Bach was given, and he was clear it was not his mistake, that he was given this figure.

As you will see at page 24 of Exhibit 8.1 - this is a response to an interrogatory to Mr. Bach - the figure of 18 megawatts in 2014 was provided to Mr. Bach in the terms of reference for his report and was based on a mistaken reading of table 6.

So not only was the mandate so narrow as to provide no value in this proceeding, it was based on a mistake.

That's as much as I propose to say in argument in-chief about the evidence of Environmental Defence, Madam Chair.  Again, I place no fault on Mr. Bach, but in my submission, for the reasons I have given, this evidence has no value in this proceeding.

Sorry, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

This brings me to the next area that I wanted to address in my submissions, which I would just generally call "alternatives."

Of course, I'm speaking before hearing intervenor arguments, and it is difficult not to anticipate what will be said.  Certainly, my submission, based on the cross-examination at the oral hearing, is that there seemed to be little or no question about whether something needs to be done.  I didn't hear any serious question about the need to have a solution for the Windsor station, or really any serious question about what needs to be done.

To the extent that there was any question, it seemed to come more from the angle of:  Well, is there another way to come at it, rather than the Bremner station?

So for that reason, again, to some extent I have to anticipate what I think will be the position of the other parties, but I did think it was important to, in argument in-chief, address some of these notions that have been raised as to whether there might be better solutions.

Now, as I alluded to earlier, one of the things that came out during the oral testimony was some questioning around the location of the Bremner station, and I did think it was important to go back to the evidence on this, because there is a lot of importance attached to having this station in this location.

Board Staff, actually, brought this out during the examination of the panel, and I have included that evidence in Exhibit 8.1.

I just lost my place, so if you don't mind me just taking a minute to get back to it?

MS. SPOEL:  Page 25.

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you.  You are well ahead of me.

Mr. Millar put the question, which said, in fairness, both the pros and cons -- sorry, I am leaving out too many words to make it coherent.  Mr. Millar said:

"I think we have heard, in fairness to you, both the pros and cons, but as a high-level overview, I think what I've heard you say and is reflected in the evidence is that the location is pretty much exactly where you would want it; is that fair?"

And the response was:
"Yes, it is ideal."

And Mr. Millar said:

"The reason for that is it is close to existing load -- pardon me, the expected load growth; is that correct?"

And Mr. Odell said:

"It is close to the existing load, the existing load growth.  It is close proximity to the Windsor transformer station, which obviously has been a significant focus of our reliability efforts, and there is existing civil infrastructure to enable the tie to the Windsor station for the 16 feeders to offload that first station."

And Mr. -- I left out some words -- and Mr. Millar went on:

"Right.  So if you had a blank map of the city and there were no site constraints whatsoever, this would be more or less where you would put the site?  It is an ideal location?

The response:
"Yes, although I cannot imagine the City of Toronto without site constraints."

And Mr. Millar said:
"Absolutely."

So really two points, Madam Chair, that I wish to take out of this excerpt.

First, the obvious point, that this is an ideal location in relation to the issues that Toronto Hydro needs to address.

The second point is that any location, it's hard to imagine any feasible location that is not going to come with some type of site constraints in downtown Toronto.

So putting those two things together -- the consideration that it is hard to imagine any site without site constraints, and the ideal situation of this site -- it is my submission that this is a clear choice to address the issues that Toronto Hydro needs to deal with.

As Mr. Millar alluded to in his question, there certainly is lots of other evidence about the ideal nature of this location.  I had quite a few excerpts as I was preparing this morning, and I actually have culled them down, but I did want to take the Board just to a couple of others, if you don't mind.  I will just do it quickly.

The first is at page 27, and it is from Navigant's evidence.  Navigant indicates, as I think we would all infer without even needing evidence on it:

"One of the primary challenges to constructing a new station in the downtown area is land acquisition.  Land cost is usually at a premium, and many sites often are not the best choice from an electrical perspective."

And it's the following words, Madam Chair, that I wish to emphasize:

"The best choice is to locate stations in load centres, as opposed to peripheral locations."

I am sure it sounds obvious.  It does to me, and -- not being an electrical engineer at all.  But to me, this is a very important point, and it is also important in relation to this issue we're hearing about, connection requests at Windsor being diverted off to other stations.

The best choice is to have the station in the load centre, and that is the evidence from Navigant.

There is another evidence -- another item of evidence that talks about some of the other aspects of why this site is so ideal.  And I included it, as well, at page 28, because it brings out some other aspects that weren't touched on in the two excerpts that I have just referred to.

So this is an item from the prefiled evidence; the reference is at the top.  The indication is that:

"In summary, the Bremner site is the most ideal location to accommodate the transformer station.  It is close to the load centre and the railway lands.  It can easily access incoming transmission lines and outgoing distribution lines.  It is away from flood plains and other hazards.  It is located at a non-residential area.  There is a route available from the site to existing 115-kV cable circuits."

So in summary, there is ample evidence about the ideal nature of this location to meet the needs that Toronto Hydro has identified as being of both urgent short-term and longer-term consideration.

Now, in my discussion of what I am loosely calling "alternatives" I wanted to touch on a few of the other things that came out during cross-examination.

One of these was the subject of conservation.  I think, as the Board is aware and as is touched on in the evidence, Toronto Hydro has been very committed to conservation, and certainly there is nothing in the evidence in this proceeding to the contrary.

Notwithstanding that commitment to conservation, the hard fact is that no amount of conservation is going to remove the need for the Bremner station.

And that was -- that's not me saying that; that also is from the evidence.

I have included the reference from Mr. Simpson's evidence at page 29 of Exhibit 8.1.

At the top of that page, he quite plainly says:
 "The point I wish to make is that our view of the data is that no amount of CDM increase can defer the need for Bremner, for the various reasons we put forth in evidence.  So it is not - if you could accelerate it 50 percent or 100 percent, it is not going to get there in time."

Then Mr. Shepherd -- hearing those words, "in time" -- came back with the question:

"It's a timing question?  It is not a technical issue?  If you were to able to magically achieve 100 megawatts, problem solved; right?"

And the evidence from Mr. Simpson was:

"I disagree.  That doesn't account for the new growth and the new connections which need new feeder positions at Bremner.  No amount of conservation is going to suddenly stop the building boom that is driving connections that can't be accommodated at the Windsor station."


So, again, Madam Chair, none of this is intended to in any way detract from Toronto Hydro's commitment to conservation.  It just is a hard fact in this case that conservation is not the answer.

I also, before closing on this point, note that I think it is recognized that incremental conservation becomes more and more difficult and more and more expensive.  So notwithstanding that Toronto Hydro has had extensive conservation efforts, it's the logical conclusion that creating increments on top of that, even if they were a solution, which according to the evidence they're not, is only going to come at a much higher cost than conservation that has been achieved in the past.

Again I am loosely calling these alternatives, but another suggestion that was brought out during the hearing is the concept of using distributed generation in some way to address the need being met -- that would be met by the Bremner project.

There are a number of reasons -- in fact, a multitude of reasons, I think, in the evidence in this case why distributed generation is just simply not a meaningful alternative.  In order to bring out these reasons, I have provided both evidence of Toronto Hydro and evidence of the Ontario Power Authority in Exhibit 8.1.

At page 30 of that exhibit, there is an extract from the evidence where Mr. Simpson was asked on re-examination about whether distributed generation is an alternative, and he says no.  And he said there are a number of challenges with applying distributed generation as a solution.

He talks about how the short-circuit capacity does not exist.  He talks about how all of the upgrades at Leaside, Manby and Hearn would have to be completed for the constraint to be removed, and then skipping down to lines 15, 16, he talked about how some work might improve the situation, but it requires funding and a long-term plan.

And then Mr. Shlatz actually came in and added some further elaboration about why distributed generation is just not a solution.  I won't read it all.  It starts at the bottom of that same page, page 31 of Exhibit 8.1, but essentially he's saying it is not even a fair comparison.

Actually, Madam Chair, perhaps I should refer to a little more of this, because I think this is -- I should make a transcript correction here.  I don't think it would be contentious.  Mr. Shlatz refers here to the comparison between a station such as Bremner and distributed generation, and at line 25, starting at line 25, you will see he's talking about the availability of Bremner:
"The availability of Bremner is going to be on the order of the 9.9 percent much like other substations."

I was sitting obviously very close to him when he said that, and I am quite certain he said 99.9 percent.  I assume that is not a contentious point by way of a transcript correction.  I am quite certain that is what he said, and I am equally certain that he could not possibly have said "9.9 percent."

So he goes on to compare that availability of the 99.9 percent to a distributed generation device over at the top of page 32.  He says it is typically well below 90 or even 80 percent.  So his point is to even characterize these as being equivalent alternatives, so to speak, is inappropriate.

Then he goes on to add a further point that from a bulk system standpoint, the benefit provided to the bulk system is not the same that's provided at the local level, and he says that is an important distinction.

Now, the other aspect that came out in re-examination is the witnesses were asked whether Bremner would actually assist with accommodating distributed generation.  Mr. Simpson's response was:
"Our analysis shows that with the Bremner buses and new connections, it will likely enable connections of DG in that general area.  It is, of course, sensitive to what is required upstream..."


And he did talk a number of times about the work that Hydro One would have to do, but he goes on to say:
"... in many ways, Bremner could be viewed as enabling distributed generation in the downtown area." 


I just add that, Madam Chair, because to the extent that the Board is hearing from at least one party, if not more in this case, about the importance of distributed generation, one might wonder, given that Bremner would have the ability to enable distributed generation, what the motivation is that would not cause a supporter of distributed generation to see that the Bremner station would have some benefit from that point of view.

I have also included the evidence of the Ontario Power Authority about distributed generation.  That's at pages 33 and 34 of the set of evidentiary references.

I won't read through it, but Mr. Toneguzzo talks about the challenges, and he puts them in a number of different categories.  So the first one he calls technical challenges.  That is at the bottom of page 33.  I won't read it, but I think he explains fairly well what the technical challenges are, and that goes over to the top of page 34.

Then he says, beyond that, there are commercial challenges, which he talks about.  Then he says, beyond commercial challenges, there are cost barriers.  And he says:
"When the OPA looks at incorporating incremental generation in the province, we have to look at what's the least cost option on behalf of ratepayers in the province.  What we're finding is costs especially in the city of incorporating generation can also be higher than other options available within the province.  And what we're finding is costs, especially in the city, of incorporating generation, can also be higher than other options available within the province."


So Mr. Toneguzzo gave a separate set of reasons why distributed generation is not a meaningful alternative in this case.

Then, finally, the third point that I would like to make before I conclude on distributed generation is that there certainly were examples brought out in cross-examination of potential distributed generation sites.

In my submission, Madam Chair, these examples actually work the opposite way than the examining party thought that they might.  The very fact that there are these potential sites, and they're not being realized upon, is itself evidence of these challenges that the witnesses have been talking about.

It is only potential that was brought out in evidence.  There was not anything brought out in cross-examination about how these potential opportunities can be brought forward for realization.  And the fact that they're not being brought forward for realization just confirms the evidence about the challenges and the difficulties, leaving aside altogether the evidence that it is not an equivalent alternative, so to speak.

So in summary, in my submission, what became apparent during the cross-examination was that as far as distributed generation is concerned, potential capacity bears little or no relation to actual outcomes.

Finally, just on my effort to address what I am loosely calling "alternatives", Madam Chair, the one other area that seemed to get some attention was the concept of connecting up with the Esplanade station rather than building the Bremner station.

In re-examination, the witness was asked to summarize the issues arising from that notion of connecting up the Esplanade station.  So this is at page 35 of the booklet of references, carrying over to page 36.

Again, I won't read it all, but suffice it to say that there is a shopping list of issues, and I think it is also fair to say these are -- none of them are minor issues.  These are very significant issues that would need to be addressed for that alternative to even be realistic.  In my submission, one needs only to look through them all to understand that it is not a realistic option, certainly not within any time frame that would be of any value or would address in any way the need that is under consideration.

And then after -- I believe it is Mr. Odell.  After Mr. Odell had gone through the numerous issues that would have to be addressed, Mr. Shlatz also added another point, which is at the following page, page 37 of the document.  He says:
"The other point to be made is the nature of the load that is served by Windsor.  There's a large amount of secondary network load which is served from the Windsor station.  It is not common practice in the industry to serve such a load from two kilometres away, and there may be some radial load involved, but it is an unusual arrangement and not something that we would -- that would normally be recommended or a common practice within the industry."


Another point that was put to the witnesses during cross-examination, Madam Chair, was, as the Board will recall, some notion about an income calculation, comparing the Bremner project to conservation efforts.

I would like to make three points in respect to that.

First, in my submission, this purported comparison is not an appropriate way to look at the Bremner project.  In my submission, the Board's approach to capital spending is a cost-recovery model.  A utility recovers its prudently incurred costs of capital spending, and the Board has said in the past, it has made clear, that the return to the utility, it is a cost in the cost-recovery model.

So this notion that it is an income-generating device, in my submission, loses sight of the cost-recovery model that underlies capital spending.

Second -- if I can use words that lawyers like to use -- there is not a shred of evidence in this case to support an inference that the Bremner project is driven by some sort of income-producing motivations, other than the purported comparison that Environmental Defence presented to the witness.  There is nothing to support that sort of conclusion.

Third, I would submit to the Board, in fact, thinking about the history of this project shows how this income-producing motivation is actually quite out of line with what this project is all about.

As is apparent from the evidence, the project started out years back as a Hydro One initiative.  And I didn't have time this morning to find the evidentiary reference, but I know that Mr. Simpson gave the reasons during cross-examination why it was eventually deemed to be best done by Toronto Hydro as a distribution project.

But in my submission, that history is quite inconsistent with the notion that Toronto Hydro dreamed up some new project to generate income.

This was an existing project under the -- under consideration by Hydro One, and it had already been carefully considered by Hydro One.  And it became a Toronto Hydro project because the parties decided that was the best way to do it.

So for all of those reasons, I think this attempt to suggest that there is an income-generating motivation behind the Bremner project is completely out of line with the evidence in this proceeding.

That, then, does also bring me to something else that I said during the hearing I would touch on.

The purported comparison of income results was one of the items in Environmental Defence's cross-examination brief, and I indicated during the hearing my concern about putting an accumulation of documents into a cross-examination brief and then, somehow, parties perhaps thinking that they're just like all other evidence on the record.

In my submission, that is not the case at all.  There are certainly documents in the brief that come from the evidence in this proceeding.

In the table of contents - I think it is Exhibit K1.3 - the table of contents does identify where documents have come from, the evidence in this proceeding.  There is no question that those are legitimate evidence in this proceeding.

In my submission, though, to insert other documents in here, more or less drop them on the record in a cross-examination brief, does not make them exhibits or evidence.

The witness should be -- some witness should be called upon to confirm them or agree with them or accept them, or even accept pieces of them, in order for them to have some position as evidence in this proceeding.

I went through -- there is quite a number of them that I don't believe were ever put to any witness, and I would say those are in the lowest category of not being evidence here at all, if they were put in a brief and never put to any witness.  And I noted a number of them that I thought that would apply to.

There is a couple of others that I just wanted to make specific comments about.

The Board doesn't need to turn it up, but one is item 6 in the table of contents of this cross-examination brief.  That is a document prepared by one of Mr. Gibbons' organizations, the Ontario Clean Air Alliance.

I don't believe the witnesses ever confirmed the accuracy of anything in that document.  Moreover, that's a clear example of something -- if there was a desire to have that on the record, Mr. Gibbons or somebody -- even Mr. Bach -- could have been asked about it.  There could have been a witness asked to confirm or accept or agree to anything in that document, if there was a desire to make it a document on the record.

Instead, it is put in in this indirect fashion, where no witness has confirmed the accuracy of anything in that, even though Environmental Defence did have a witness here.

Then just one other example.  There is 25 documents; I don't intend to go through them all.  Again, many of them actually are from the record of this proceeding, so there is no issue there.

But another example is item 22.  Now, this is evidence from another case, but it is the IPSP proceeding in EB-2007-0707.

That's -- you know, that is five, six years old now.  In my submission, that is just illustrating the danger of dropping documents like this into a brief and then not having a witness talk to them.

We don't know to what extent that evidence is dated or not, given the number of years that have passed since it was filed in the IPSP proceeding.

MS. SPOEL:  So can I make a suggestion, Mr. Cass?

I don't know that we want to go through all 25 of them.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  If any of the other parties refer to any of those documents, I mean, this may be one where, you know, it is more appropriate for your reply argument.  If anyone does refer to any of those documents in a way that suggests they have some probative value, then you -- I think that is probably a good time to make submissions on them.

And if no one refers to them, then we won't be probably looking at them either.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  And that might simplify the whole thing.  If they are simply there in case, and Mr. Elson and no one else refers to them, we'll just not refer to them either.

And if they do refer to them, you can determine what submissions to make, depending how they're used, if they're used at all.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I agree completely.  I think this is an ideal way to deal with it.

In fairness, though, I didn't think I could let it go by in argument in-chief without giving parties warning from is a concern about these documents.

And then again, to the extent that anyone wants to use things, then that can be dealt with in reply.  Thank you.

So Madam Chair, for the reasons I have given, Toronto Hydro does submit that the Bremner project is, indeed, a project that can and should be accepted by the Board under the ICM criteria.

As I alluded to earlier, Toronto Hydro has also made the request that the Bremner station be deemed a distribution asset.  I don't know that that is contentious at all, but just for the Board's benefit and for the benefit of other parties, I did include in the brief two examples of decisions where the Board has done that.  One is at page 38 of Exhibit 8.1, and one is at page 42.  I should clarify I didn't include the entirety of the decisions; I just included some pages.  I just felt they're examples only.  And I don't intend to address any more argument to it.  I am not aware that it contentious, but I thought it would be useful for the Board just to be aware that there are these examples.

Now, in connection with the submission I made about approval of this as an ICM project, I did want to address comments that came up during the oral hearing about what Toronto Hydro has been calling a "true-up process."

It is certainly true that the Board's ICM guidelines don't give any indication of a detailed true-up process.  I did, though, want to take the Board to what the guidelines talk about, and if I can attempt to assist the Board with Toronto Hydro's vision of where this can be very useful to the Board.

So for that purpose, I included just some extracts from the June 2012 version of the Board's filing requirements.  That starts at page 46 of Exhibit 8.1.  And again, it is only extracts, because I was trying to keep this to a minimum.

But at page 48 of the document, you will see that I have underlined some wording under the heading "ICM Reporting Requirements".

If the Board will indulge me, perhaps I will just read it, because I think it is all relevant to what I would like to say to the Board.

So it indicates here:
"A distributor that receives rate relief through this module will be required to report to the Board annually on the actual amount spent.  At the time of the next rebasing, the distributor will file a calculation of the amounts to be incorporated in rate base.  At that time, the Board will make a determination on the treatment of any difference between forecast and actual capital spending during the IRM plan term.  Any overspending or underspending will be reviewed at the time of rebasing."

Just I wanted to make a couple of comments about that wording before I come to the point, the true-up point, more generally.  I don't believe this wording could be any more clear than it is, that what the Board will be looking at at that time will be a forecast of capital spending - capital spending - compared to actual capital spending.

That's the -- that's what's contemplated by these requirements.

Similarly, I don't think the wording could be any more clear than it is that it is overspending or underspending that will be part of that review.

Now, Toronto Hydro has been loosely calling this a true-up, whether that is good terminology or not, but Toronto Hydro considers this to be an important element of the ICM model because, in my submission and in Toronto Hydro's view, this is what is there to ensure fair and appropriate costs.

And it is true that the guidelines don't set out a detailed process for how one is to get there to fair and appropriate costs.  It certainly does make the points that I alluded to, forecast capital spending versus actual capital spending, but there is not detail about the process.

This is the very reason why Toronto Hydro has made the suggestion it did an earlier part of this case to consult with Board Staff, with parties, to develop a process that's going to be a process that will have that result of fair and appropriate costs, because Toronto Hydro considers it to be an important element of the model and because the detail of it would be important to produce that ultimate outcome that is fair and appropriate for all concerned.

So, again, Toronto Hydro's proposal is to consult with the parties, consult with Board Staff, and, to the extent that an agreement can't be reached, to leave it in the hands of the Board as to the determination of what that process should be.

So, again, if true-up is not good terminology, I apologize for that, but this is the vision that Toronto Hydro has of what can happen and how it can be very valuable to the Board and to all parties in this process to be sure that the costs at the end of the day are only those that are the fair and appropriate ones for all concerned.

In conclusion, Madam Chair - you will be happy to know I am concluding - I have one other point that I want to touch on with some trepidation, because it is a sensitive point.

But I do want to emphasize that I and Toronto Hydro appreciate, of course, the Board is very busy, has many demands on its time.  I appreciate, as well, that the Board has in front of it not just the Bremner project, but the entire phase 1 of this proceeding for consideration and decision, and I understand that there's been a lot of water under the bridge for the Board to consider in coming to its decision.

With those considerations in mind, I did want to make a respectful request to the Board that it give whatever consideration it can to the possibility of a decision at the earliest opportunity on the Bremner project.

[Laughter]

MR. CASS:  I know I am asking a lot.

MS. HARE:  The contradictory letter you sent just a few weeks ago, but let's not get into that.

[Laughter]

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Well, I think the Board has heard the concerns about Bremner in particular, the Bremner project, getting on with the work and meeting the schedule for completion in the last quarter of 2014.

I do understand the -- the letter was written with a particular thought in mind, which was that the three members of the Panel had a lot of background in the other part of this case, which was an extensive amount of evidence with interrogatories, technical conference and a somewhat lengthy hearing.

But we are now at the Bremner phase, and I would just, again, very respectfully, ask the Board whatever it can do to give consideration to an early decision.

In this regard, I wanted to point out that the Board, of course, has heard Toronto Hydro's evidence about the schedule and the urgency.  There's also the evidence, and there was a bit of confusion about it, with respect to Hydro One, so I did just want to be sure that that was clear.  I included that as the final page in the Exhibit 8.1.

MS. SPOEL:  We heard that yesterday.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I just wanted to be sure that was clear.  It was not a Toronto Hydro board of directors' meeting that was being referred to.

There is a Hydro One -- as I understand it, a Hydro One board of directors' meeting on April 4th.  That is at page 49.  And Hydro One has given the indication that their board is hopeful of something from this Board in connection with their consideration of the project.

So I just wanted to be sure that that was understood and it was not a Toronto Hydro board meeting that was intended to be referred to.

So I thank the Board for your patience in sitting through all of those long evidentiary references, and that completes my argument in-chief.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  That was very helpful.

MS. SPOEL:  It was very helpful to have the references.

MS. HARE:  We don't have any questions.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  That concludes today's proceeding.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:49 p.m.
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